PWYLLGOR IECHYD A DIOGELWCH **HEALTH & SAFETY COMMITTEE**

DYDDIAD Y CYFARFOD:	9 May 2023
DATE OF MEETING:	
TITLE OF WRITTEN CONTROL 285 – Violence and Aggression Policy	
DOCUMENT:	
ARWEINYDD	Mandy Rayani, Director of Nursing, Quality and Patient
CYFARWYDDWR:	Experience
EXECUTIVE LEAD	
SWYDDOG ADRODD: Tim Harrison, Head of Health, Safety & Security	
REPORTING OFFICER:	

ADRODDIAD REPORT

Sefyllfa / Situation

The Health and Safety Committee are asked to approve 285 – Violence and Aggression Policy.

This report provides the required assurance that Policy 190 – Written Control Documentation has been adhered to in the development of the written control document (WCD) and that therefore the WCD is in line with legislation/regulations, available evidence base and can be implemented within the Health Board.

This latest version includes an amendment and clarity on the appeals process where individuals are aggrieved at receiving conduct letters. This follows consultation with patients/carers and the Community Health Council.

Cefndir / Background

1.Brief summary of the WCD:

The policy has been written to provide the overarching strategy for the prevention and management of all work-related violence, aggression and abuse of NHS staff and to minimise wherever possible the unacceptable behaviour of certain service users.

2. Scope of the WCD:

The scope of this policy applies to all departments and staff within HDUHB. This will include employees working for other employers but on Health Board premises or undertaking duties on behalf of the organisation. The procedures contained within this policy can be applied to all members of the public, contractors and visitors at any location where healthcare is administered.

3. Reason(s) for developing:

To create a safe working environment for all staff and others minimising the risks of any form of abuse and violence wherever practicable. To take reasonable measures to prevent and minimise harm from incidents of violence and aggression occurring and thereby protecting staff and others from risks to their personal safety. To provide appropriate levels of support, action and aftercare in the event of such incidents occurring, through case management inter agency and departmental working.

Ensuring that procedures are in place throughout HDUHB to inform individuals of instances where their behaviour has been considered as unacceptable, prior to any further sanctions being considered.

Page 1 of 3

Giving a clear message to all staff and members of the public that violence, abuse, aggression and hate crimes/incidents against HDUHB staff is unacceptable.

4. Owning group:

Health and Safety Advisory Group

Assurance

- 1. Equality Impact Assessment: Completed.
- 2. Privacy Impact Assessment: Not applicable.
- 3. Evidence base:
- 4. Compliance with Legislation/Relevant Law
 - Health and Safety at Work Act 1974
 - Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999
 - Employment Rights Act 1996
 - Equality Act 2010
 - Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992 (as amended)

5. Interested Parties: A record of involvement of all interested parties –

The Health and Safety Advisory Group is the owning group and representative members were directly consulted with in its development.

6. Implementation:

This Procedure will be available in all areas via the HDUHB Policy Intranet site. All managers will need to ensure that the Procedure is followed whenever a warning marker is placed on an individual's record and that reviews are undertaken at the appropriate intervals as stipulated within the document.

7. Monitoring:

This document will be reviewed every three years or earlier should audit results or changes to legislation/practice within HDUHB indicate otherwise.

Argymhelliad / Recommendation

For the Health and Safety Committee to approve 285 Violence and Aggression Policy recommend it for uploading to the Health Board Policy page on the intranet by the Policy Coordination Officer (for procedures and guidelines only).

Amcanion: (rhaid cwblhau) Objectives: (must be completed)		
Safon(au) Gofal lechyd: Health and Care Standard(s): Health Care Standards	 Health Care Standards Theme 1 Staying Healthy: Standard 1.1 Health promotion, protection and improvement Health Care Standards Theme 2 Safe Care: Standard 2.1 Managing risk and promoting health & safety. 	
Amcanion Strategol y BI: HB Strategic Objectives:	 To ensure the UHB meets its legal requirements in legislation and NHS guidelines. Provide a skilled and confident workforce. 	

Page 2 of 3

2/3

Strategic Objectives Leads

3/3



Violence and Aggression Policy

Policy information

Policy number: 285

Classification: Corporate

Supersedes: V3

Version number: V4

Date of Equality Impact Assessment: 26/04/2023

Approval information

Approved by: Health and Safety Committee Date of approval: Click or tap to enter a date.

Date made active:

Enter date made active (completion by policy team)

Review date: 09/05/2024

Summary of document:

Policy and procedure for the prevention and management of all work-related violence, aggression and abuse of all NHS staff and unacceptable behaviour at Hywel Dda University Health Board (HDUHB) premises.

Scope:

The scope of this policy applies to all departments and staff within HDUHB. This includes employees working for other employers on HDUHB premises or undertaking duties on behalf of the organisation at any location.

To be read in conjunction with:

761 – Violent Patient Warning Marker Procedure – opens in a new tab

<u>170 – Lone Worker Policy</u> opens in a new tab

106 – Protocol for the Therapeutic Management of Acutely Disturbed Service Users in Adult In-Patient MH settings & A&E – opens in a new tab

1/30 4/36

- <u>654 Rapid tranquillisation guideline in acute MH&LD in-patient settings guideline –</u> opens in a new tab
- 995 Respect and Resolution Policy opens in a new tab
- 163 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards, Guidance & Procedure for Staff opens in a new tab
- 201 Disciplinary Policy opens in a new tab
- 340 Staff Psychological Wellbeing Policy opens in a new tab
- 811 Mental Capacity Act Practice Guideline opens in a new tab

Obligatory Response to Violence in Health Care as supported by the NHS Wales Anti-Violence Collaborative.

All Wales Violence & Aggression Training Passport & Information Scheme

Patient information:

Owning group: Health and Safety Advisory Group 12/04/2023

Executive Director job title:

Director of Nursing, Quality and Patient Experience

Reviews and updates:

- 1 New Policy from previous template 17.5.2018
- 2 Amended policy following full review 17.12.2020
- 3 Amended policy for issue of code of conduct letters and appeal process 6.12.2021
- 4 Full review

Keywords

Violence, Aggression, Hate Crime, Hate Incident, Harassment, Abuse, Personal Safety, Police

Glossary of terms

Keypoints:

Deliberate violence and aggression towards staff is not acceptable and where appropriate, action will be taken against offenders. A preventative strategy identifying risk and adopting suitable control measures will be initiated to provide both the required care and protection to staff. In some instances it may be justified to alter how care is delivered and in some instances where the risks cannot be managed remove care. HDUHB is committed to:

- Challenging and eliminating all forms of violence and aggression, abuse, harassment and discrimination, whether direct or indirect;
- Advancing equality of opportunity for all staff;
- Promoting good inclusive relations between people from different groups;
- Promoting anti-hate principles in all aspects of our policies and practices;
- Identifying and eradicating the conditions which give rise to, or allow, harassment and discriminatory attitudes and behaviour; and
- Supporting staff subjected to, or witnesses of, any hate incidents/crimes.

Contents

Policy information	1
Approval information	1
Scope	5
Aim	6
Objectives	
Definitions	
General Principles	
Risk Assessment	8
Workplace Risk Assessment	9
Responding to Incidents of Violence and Aggression	9
Incident Reporting and Investigation	9
Violence and Aggression Case Management	10
Enforcement/Sanctions - Patient/Personal Warning and Withdrawal of Care	11
Stage 1 Letter (Identification of behaviour/Informing person concerned)	11
Stage 2 Letter (Contract & Conditions – Patient/Personal Undertaking)	11
Stage 3 (Enforcement and Exclusion)	12
External Sanctions	12
Appeals Process	13
Victim Support	13
Post Incident After care for staff	14
Roles and Responsibilities	15
Violence and Aggression Training	18
Disciplinary Action	19
Implementation, Monitoring and Review	19
Internal Monitoring	19
References	20
Appendix 1 – I.C.E. Procedure for Dealing with Unacceptable Behaviour in HDUHB Appendix 2 – I.C.E. Stage 1 – Identification of behaviour / informing person concerned Appendix 3 – I.C.E. Stage 2 – Contract and Conditions – Patient / Personal Undertaking Appendix 4 – I.C.E. Stage 2 – Contract and Conditions – Letter to GP Appendix 5 – I.C.E. Stage 3 – Enforcement and Exclusion	

Page 3 of 30 Violence and Aggression Policy Policy ref:285 Version No V4.1

Introduction

Hywel Dda University Health Board (HDUHB) has statutory obligations under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974(HASWA) to ensure the health and safety of all employees and anyone affected by their work, so far as is reasonably practicable. This includes taking steps to assess and control violence, aggression and hate crime / incident risks in the workplace. Under The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 (MHSWR), employers must consider the risks to employees (including the risk of reasonably foreseeable violence); decide how significant these risks are; decide what to do to prevent or control the risks; and develop a clear management plan to achieve this in the form of suitable and sufficient risk assessments.

The primary function of HDUHB is to provide healthcare to those in need. Through the course of their duties it is acknowledged that this requirement can place staff in direct contact with individuals in difficult situations, where both personal safety and clinical decisions need to be made when confronted with potential harm or violence. Both NHS Wales and HDUHB are committed to the need to protect staff from incidents of violence and aggression as far is reasonably practicable coupled with effective support for staff and taking forward appropriate actions and assessments when incidents occur.

Violence and abuse are the most frequent types of incidents reported by staff within our organisation and can occur at any time or location. Such incidents, if not dealt with correctly, can lead to reduced confidence and moral. Each staff member is a valued asset and should be protected so far as is reasonably practicable and if subjected to violence and aggression be properly supported post incident. The correct management of violence and aggression should reduce incident frequency and severity and sickness levels. It should also increase staff perception and look to contribute towards improved operational effectiveness.

Staff must have confidence in the reporting systems, investigation and addressing such incidents, with the knowledge that they will be supported by the organisation and that all the circumstances and information available will be taken into account to establish the most appropriate course of action.

The standard to be adopted by HDUHB is that every incident matters and will result in all incidents being assessed for the appropriate responses or actions, support and advice afforded to those involved and revisiting risk profiles and control measures to promote safety.

HDHB has and will continue to contribute to All Wales strategies including the Obligatory Response to Violence in Healthcare.

Scope

The scope of this policy applies to all departments and staff within HDUHB. This will include employees working for other employers but on Health Board premises or undertaking duties on behalf of the organisation. The procedures contained within this policy can be applied to all members of the public, contractors and visitors at any location where healthcare is administered. Suitable consideration will be given to patients who are not competent to take responsibility for their actions for clinical reasons as per the latest multi-agency agreements currently being the NHS Wales anti-violence collaborative and Obligatory Response Document, which are held on the health board intranet.

The Violence and Aggression Case manager will provide guidance to staff and managers on dealing with situations where they either witness, or are the subject of an incident or crime or hate incident/crime, or where hate could be an aggravating factor, where the perpetrator is either a:

Policy ref:285 Page 4 of 30 Version No V4.1 Violence and Aggression Policy

7/36

- Service user, their relative or carer,
- Visitor.
- Member of the public,
- Fellow member of staff.

This guidance does not encompass situations where members of staff witness a hate incident/crime against a patient/ or service user. Any member of staff witnessing a hate incident/crime involving a patient or service user has a duty to seek advice and support from their line manager &/or Corporate Safeguarding Team.

Aim

To create a safe working environment for all staff and others minimising the risks of any form of abuse and violence wherever practicable.

To take all reasonable measures to prevent and minimise harm from incidents of violence and aggression occurring and thereby protecting staff and others from risks to their personal safety, through effective risk assessment and management.

To provide appropriate levels of support, action and aftercare in the event of such incidents occurring, through case management inter agency and departmental working.

When incidents have occurred carry out or review risk assessments and identify control measures in order to prevent or reduce and eliminate harm.

To establish clear procedures and guidance for staff and managers when confronted with violence and aggression in order that incidents are reported promptly and effectively.

To give staff clear guidance on dealing with hate incidents/crimes towards staff by promoting the core principles of human rights (FREDA) and our organisational values and by creating a climate of cultural awareness, inclusivity and valuing diversity.

Objectives

These aims will be achieved by:

- Proactively identifying and assessing foreseeable risks and putting in place controls to minimise or prevent incidents of violence and aggression occurring, thereby reducing the number and severity of injuries sustained.
- Establishing procedures to effectively manage risk and situations, whilst raising awareness of personal safety including violence and aggression throughout the Health Board.
- Ensuring suitable and sufficient risk assessment, with evolving reduction and control of any risks arising from incidents of violence and aggression that are reported.
- Providing appropriate staff training as identified by risk assessment and the implementation
 of the Training Guidelines and Standards contained in the All Wales NHS Violence and
 Aggression Training Passport and Information Scheme (AWVAP).
- Ensuring that procedures are in place throughout HDUHB to inform individuals of instances where their behaviour has been considered as unacceptable, prior to any further sanctions being considered.

- Ensuring that provision is made within the organisation for informing those whose behaviour has been considered as both serious and unacceptable where appropriate treatment is changed/withdrawn or carries certain personal undertakings in order to continue.
- Giving a clear message to all staff and members of the public that violence, abuse, aggression and hate crimes/incidents against HDUHB staff is unacceptable and that the board are committed and determined to address this issue.
- Establishing case managers who will actively look to support and assist in investigations to ensure proportionate, lawful, appropriate and necessary outcomes using internal and external sanctions.
- Establishing a working arrangement with both Dyfed Powys Police and the Crown
 Prosecution Service that complies with the Obligatory Response to Violence in Health Care
 as supported by the NHS Wales Anti-Violence Collaborative. The aim of this document will
 be achieved by the following objectives:

Definitions

Welsh Government describes work related violence as 'Any incident where staff are abused, threatened or assaulted in circumstances relating to their work involving explicit or implicit challenge to their safety, well-being or health. This can incorporate some behaviour identified in harassment and bullying, for example verbal violence'. Violence towards staff includes physical attacks, verbal abuse and also threatening behaviour or material.

Harassment is now a criminal offence and is defined in law under the Protection from Harassment Act 1997 as 'A person must not pursue a course of conduct (a) which amounts to harassment of another, and (b) which he knows or ought to know amounts to harassment of the other'.

A hate crime is defined as: 'A criminal offence which is perceived, by the victim or any other person to be motivated by a hostility or prejudice based on a person's actual or perceived disability, race, religion and belief, sexual orientation and transgender'.(Protected factors)

A hate incident is defined as: 'Any non-crime incident which is perceived by the victim or any other person to be motivated by hostility or prejudice based on actual or perceived disability, race, religion, and belief, sexual orientation and transgender'.

Some people may experience hate crimes and incidents because of a combination of more than one identifying or protected factor such as their race and disability. A victim of a hate crime or incident does not necessarily have to belong to any of the above protected characteristics i.e. they may be perceived to do so by the perpetrator. The essential feature of hate incidents or crimes, which are also forms of harassment, is that it is behaviour that the recipient feels is inappropriate to him/her and he/she regards it as personally offensive. However this must be weighed against what is generally regarded as reasonable behaviour. Employees can complain of unwanted conduct that they find offensive even if it is not directed at them personally.

The Obligatory Response to Violence in Health Care as supported by the NHS Wales Anti-Violence Collaborative, is an agreement between the Welsh Police Forces, the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) Wales and the National Health Service (NHS) Wales. This agreement outlines procedures and obligations to each organisation to in their approach and responses to incidents of violence, aggression or abuse of staff. The Obligatory Response Document provides practical guidance on the prevention

reporting and progression of incidents to prosecution or disposal together with information sharing and is available on the Health Board intranet.

General Principles

Service users should not feel able to threaten, harass or abuse a member of staff in the expectation that another staff member will replace them or the behaviours are rewarded in any form.

Service users do not have the right to request particular staff to treat them for discriminatory reasons i.e., based upon any of the protected equality characteristics, and no member of staff should facilitate such requests. The Health Board will not accept requests by, or on behalf of, service users to be treated by a different member of staff on grounds of their race or any other grounds that are not objectively justifiable i.e., not simply based upon prejudice.

Risk Assessment

Identification of risk

In keeping with a preventative strategy, appropriate risk assessments are essential in order to consider options to eliminate, or control identified hazards thereby minimising risk as far as is reasonably practicable. All staff are encouraged to examine their working environments and where risks are identified take appropriate action. There are some situations that may be identified from local and national perspectives. Examples include but are not limited to:

- Patients and visitors under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs, particularly in Accident and Emergency or Outpatient settings, or in the home.
- Patients who are confused or suffering head injuries.
- Patients suffering from alcohol or substance withdrawal.
- Patients suffering from a paranoid illness where their perception of reality is distorted.
- · Patients with poor communication ability
- Infections risks
- Patients with any form of cognitive impairment

To promote the effective management of risk, reporting and responses to violence and aggression a Violence and Aggression pack has been developed that contains risk assessment templates, police escalation, incident responses, Datix guides and information on the intranet. See link below:

http://howis.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/862/page/47593

Individuals with a history of violent behaviour are more likely to become violent again; however care should be taken to emphasise that the reoccurrence of violence is not definite and may be preventable.

There are also specific situations that may place staff at increased risk, these include:

- Admission to patients into acute psychiatric units.
- Individuals or small numbers of staff alone at night.
- Hotel Services/Security Staff who respond to reports of violent incidents.
- Dealing with relatives and carers who may be anxious or angry.
- Working in areas that contain cash, drugs or equipment.
- Staff undertaking domiciliary visits.
- · Lone Working.
- Staff working in Emergency Departments

Staff working in Mental Health and Learning Disability units.

Workplace Risk Assessment

Part of the risk assessment process should include examining the physical layout of the workplace, looking at issues such as the potential for staff to be trapped, the use of objects within the workplace to be used as weapons and issues around the observation of staff and patients. High risk areas such as interview areas in Emergency Units and Mental Health settings should be examined in terms of the need for appropriate distress/assistance/communication or alarm systems being installed. It is essential that any alarm/communication system is combined with staff training and awareness, in order to establish clear roles and responsibilities. This would include calling the police and reporting incidents. The Violence and Aggression risk assessment should be completed in its entirety by a competent person and always signed and dated, with the assessment and additional material shared with all staff within departments in order to raise awareness.

In high-risk areas, safe areas should be designated in order that staff can retreat quickly to a safe and secure environment and raise the alarm. Such an example would be the use of turned door locks or security systems instead of keys in emergency situations.

In appropriate circumstances, after discussion with a member of their staff, managers may need to consider requesting an alternative member of staff to attend to a patient where there is an identified risk of a hate incident/crime occurring.

Responding to Incidents of Violence and Aggression

When faced with a violent or aggressive incident, staff will be supported fully if they have responded in a way that is deemed to be appropriate at the time including adhering to relevant policies and procedures, training given, safe systems of work and the requirements of legislation. Managers are required to ensure that all staff understand what types of responses would be deemed appropriate within their local working environment.

If an aggressor does not respond to reasonable requests from staff, the Health Board would not expect those staff to remain exposed or vulnerable in an escalating situation. The right of staff to call for police assistance to deal with an aggressor will always be supported by the Health Board, and staff should not feel reluctant to do so if they feel this is necessary. Also, withdrawing to a place of safety may be deemed appropriate in some circumstances.

In most situations, however, the involvement of the police may not be an immediate course of action chosen by staff, as other options to deal with the individual may be considered more appropriate or more effective. This may include staff being able to manage the situation and the response by staff trained in the appropriate level of Restrictive Physical Intervention (RPI) if necessary. The details of any use of RPI and any persons involved should always be clinically led and recorded correctly on Datix evidencing events, techniques, medication, persons involved and aftercare.

Staff will be supported by the Health Board so long as their actions are appropriate, within agreed parameters including legislation and the circumstances as they were perceived to be at the time of an incident.

Incident Reporting and Investigation

All incidents of abuse, violence, aggression and hate incidents/crime including verbal abuse, must be reported through the Incident Reporting and Investigation Procedure (via Datix) and relevant

investigations initiated. There may be exceptional circumstances (whereby no physical or immediate psychological harm is sustained, and the behaviour is attributable to a known clinical condition that has been previously evidenced and recorded), where a decision is made not to report an incident. However, the incident, its consequences and other relevant information must be fully explored before any decision is made not to report on Datix.

It is essential to have in place procedures that ensure the prompt and accurate recording and analysis of all reported violence and aggression incidents. This will help ensure the timely and appropriate levels of support and actions by case management being afforded to victims and persons affected by incidents as well as submission of agreed data to relevant groups and the Welsh Government in line with the national violence and aggression action plan.

Line Managers/Supervisors are required to assess whether staff involved in an incident require help or support but further support and advice is available from the Violence and Aggression Case Manager and the Occupational Health and Staff Psychological Welfare departments. It is recognised that the victim has the choice as to whether debriefing or counselling is desired, it is not a mandatory requirement. This area may need to be re visited on more than one occasion and requires careful management. This could also include the use of specialist advice such as Victim Support schemes on a known or completely confidential basis.

Particularly in the case of hate incidents/crime, if incidents go unreported, they are more likely to be repeated and important opportunities for organisational learning are lost. It is important that employees who believe they are subject to a hate incident or inappropriate behaviour keep a record of any alleged incident as soon as possible after it has taken place and refer to the All-Wales Dignity at Work Policy (130) available on the HDUHB intranet.

When reporting and investigating incidents the notes should contain the following: -

- Date, time and place of the incident(s).
- Names and contact details of the individual's, perpetrator and victim involved.
- Full details of what actually happened and what was said including the exact words/language used.
- Names of any witnesses.
- Any welfare considerations.
- Any other relevant information (e.g., Diagnosis and capacity).

All reported abuse, violence and aggression incidents must be forwarded to the Violence and aggression case manager so that specialist advice and support can be offered to the victim and department as soon as is reasonably practicable.

Violence and Aggression Case Management

The correct risk assessment of working environments coupled with appropriate case management of incidents will be fundamental to a long-term reduction of violence and aggression incidents within HDUHB. Paramount to this process is the prompt reporting of incidents that merit consideration for prosecution or sanction. A structured case management process will be established offering help, advice and support to victims/managers encouraging early and appropriate actions being taken in order that the significance of events is understood by victims, witnesses and the perpetrators themselves.

Incidents are often traumatic to the victims, as is the prospect of giving evidence and going to court. The victim will always be at the centre of case management with opportunities to express their fears or concerns. After care and support to victims and others affected by incidents of Violence and Aggression are an essential part of the case management process. The overarching principle is clear that HDUHB will not tolerate inappropriate behaviour including threats of violence, abuse, hate incidents/crimes, verbal or physical abuse including harassment and that it should never be considered as 'part of the job'.

Case management aims to:

- Ensure that incidents of violence and aggression are investigated and progressed through to final disposal with positive outcomes achieved wherever possible, utilising both internal and external sanctions.
- Support and advise victims and managers with specialist knowledge coupled with making representations to the Police and CPS to secure appropriate legal disposals, including the securing of CCTV and other further evidence where required.
- Ensuring risk assessments are complete current and compliant with legislation.

Enforcement/Sanctions - Patient/Personal Warning and Withdrawal of Care

A system of warning patients whose behaviour is unacceptable has been established which meets the advice given within the All-Wales Violence and Aggression Passport Scheme (Staff Charter, Patient Undertaking).

With regards to violence and aggression HDUHB has established a 3-stage process entitled 'Putting Abuse on ICE' (see Appendices 1-5). This allows early intervention regarding unacceptable behaviour and extends to any persons abusing staff on or off Health Board premises.

Should incidents occur initial contact will be made with individuals by the respective Service themselves. At this stage the person should be informed of the Health Board Violence and Aggression Policy and the 3 stage process in place. This is to ensure that where an individual does not understand that their behaviour has had a negative impact on staff it can be addressed in order to improve the level of service provided and offer safeguards towards future incidents taking place.

Stage 1 Letter (Identification of behaviour/Informing person concerned)

If the Service feel their intervention and attempts to improve things have not worked, a more formal approach will be made. This is referred to as Stage 1 whereby a Code of Conduct Letter will be issued which highlights the behaviours that have been witnessed. The purpose of this approach is to seek cooperation in being able to deliver safe care for all involved.

Stage 1 letters will provide information regarding the behaviours that have been reported by the Health Board staff making the recipient aware of how their behaviour has been perceived and how this has impacted on the staff involved.

Stage 2 Letter (Contract & Conditions – Patient/Personal Undertaking)

Stage 2 Code of Conduct letters will be issued only when the individual continues to abuse, threaten or intimidate staff despite requesting co-operation following receipt of a stage 1 letter.

Stage 2 may involve the Health Board setting out specific conditions as to how the healthcare will be provided. This may also involve more stringent measures including a written patient contract/undertaking. These will be formulated by departmental heads or managers with support from

Policy ref:285 Page 10 of 30 Version No V4.1

the Violence and Aggression Case Manager. The contracts will be written in a language the recipient will be able to understand in order to comply with its content.

The individual's GP will also be notified of any such interventions in order to minimise potential risk to other healthcare staff.

Details on the procedure for dealing with unacceptable behaviours at HDUHB can be found in Appendix 1 and sample Stage 1 & Stage 2 letters can be found in Appendix 3 and Appendix 4.

Stage 3 (Enforcement and Exclusion)

Procedures for the removal of services for those persons who repeatedly refuse to co-operate with the required behaviour and/or present an unacceptable risk have been developed and are contained within the All-Wales Violence and Aggression Training Passport and Information Scheme. The removal of treatment is an extreme action and must be approved by the Director of Operations prior to initiation. It will also ensure that HDUHB services that may be affected are informed. As above the individual's GP will also be notified of any such interventions in order to minimise potential risk to other healthcare staff.

Sample letters can be found in Appendix 5.

Any change in the provision of care as a result of reaching stage 3 of this process will be reviewed within 3 months by an appointed Review Panel. Notification for the panel to reconvene will be provided by the relevant management team. The patient will be notified of any decision made by the panel.

External Sanctions

Staff members who become victims of violence/abuse/hate crime as a result of their role will actively be supported in pursuing criminal actions against their perpetrators, where appropriate and considering all circumstances. The impact to HDUHB and level of service will also be considered when relaying complaints to the police and Crown Prosecution Service (CPS). All complaints will be dealt with under the latest model and agreement between the relevant agencies e.g. Obligatory Response to Violence in Healthcare.

Offences of this nature are generally classed as assault and vary in seriousness from common assault through to offences of grievous bodily harm with intent. At present hate incidents and crimes are classed as aggravating features for any offences and are under scrutiny by government and the criminal justice services, this has recently secured the specific offence of committing an assault on an emergency worker and applies to any person employed by the health board and engaged with their designated duties.

If an offence has been committed and the victim wishes to pursue the matter, then the police must obtain an account from the victim at the earliest opportunity. This reinforces the importance of incidents being reported promptly and correctly. The police will seek to deal with the offender; however, this will depend on the capacity and medical treatments required and may in some instances cause a delay in action being taken. If the police consider that a caution or fixed penalty fine is the most appropriate action, the officer will act in accordance with the latest multi agency agreement and protocols and liaise with the Violence and Aggression Case Manager, victim or line manager before pursuing this course of action.

Further evidence may be required, e.g., CCTV footage, photographs, medical statements, capacity assessments, witness statements and doctor's statements regarding injuries etc. and assistance will be offered in facilitating this within the legal frameworks in which evidence must be obtained.

Upon completion of the investigation the CPS will decide based on the evidence whether to pursue the incident selecting the most appropriate pathway or charges. The CPS will manage the prosecution at all stages. Criminal matters can be referred to either magistrates or crown court with defendants possibly electing trial. It is vital to use the support services in place to help victims and witnesses through this process. The CPS may make recommendations to the court that further orders or conditions are also considered following conviction.

HDUHB and the victim must be kept informed of the progress and status of the criminal action with the use of designated contacts and information exchange. Formal representations will be established with Community Safety Partnerships to ensure that violence and aggression is included as a specific action set within their crime and anti-social behaviour action plan.

Appeals Process

With the appropriate level of communication between the Service and the individual it is hoped few appeals/challenges will be received. However, if an individual wishes to challenge what has been alleged and feels aggrieved regarding the decision for a warning letter to be sent, they can either contact the Patient Support & Advisory Service or write to the Director of Operations office.

Director of Operations Ystwyth Building, Hafan Derwen, St Davids Park, Jobswell Road, Carmarthen SA31 3BB

Should the individual be dissatisfied with the review decision the Patient Support & Advisory Service can be notified for the concern to be dealt with in accordance with the Health Board's complaint management process, as established by the NHS (Concerns, Complaints & Redress Arrangements) (Wales) Regulations 2011.

Patient Support and Advisory Service

Telephone: 0300 0200 159 Text: 07891 142240

Email: Hdhb.patientsupportservices@wales.nhs.uk

Victim Support

The department/line manager has the main responsibility to support the staff post incident. In addition to this support the person involved in the incident, or the manager can contact the following for advice and support:

- Violence and Aggression Case Manager
- Prevention and Management of Violence and Aggression Department
- Head of Health, Safety & Security
- Workforce Advisers
- Trade Union, staff organisation or professional association representatives
- Occupational Health Department

12/30 15/36

- Staff Psychological Wellbeing Department
- Corporate Safeguarding Team

Post Incident After care for staff

The following points will need to be considered by the department/line manager immediately and made available as necessary following an incident:

- Do arrangements need to be made for the member of staff to receive medical attention or treatment?
- Does the member of staff feel fit (physically and/or psychologically) to continue duties and if not do they need assistance with transport to go home?
- Do they need recovery time after the incident?
- Has an incident form (Datix) been completed?
- Has the Violence and Aggression Case Manager or relevant department(s) been informed?
- Has the staff member had an opportunity to discuss the incident and how it was managed?
- Have other members of staff been de-briefed regarding the incident who may have been affected or require support?
- Has the staff member been offered specialist counselling?
- Is the member of staff still prepared or fit to provide care to the patient involved?
- Do staff require support in liaising with the Police and CPS over the incident?
- Are any risks identified that require a change in working practice or changes to the working environment?

A post incident risk assessment review must be completed, and control measures communicated to all relevant staff as soon as is reasonably practicable with a copy forwarded to the Violence and Aggression Case Manager.

Where reference to the Violence and Aggression Case Manager is considered relevant the victim can expect contact at the earliest practical opportunity after the event to verify that the appropriate support and advice has been offered. The victim should be kept regularly informed of events and the progress of any incidents and investigation. Where appropriate this should be reinforced with letters at agreed intervals. The Violence and Aggression Case Manager should act as a single point of contact as described in the latest agreement between the NHS, Police and CPS in Wales. Continuing support and advice will be offered to the victim throughout any investigative or legal process.

Support and advice for victims of hate incidents/crimes

It is vital to ensure an environment in which people feel they can approach their senior staff/manager to report hate incidents. Staff who feel that they have or may be about to be subjected to any sort of hate incident or crime should discuss this with their line manager in the first instance, if this is not practicable then contact can be made with the V &A Case manager or any other suitable manager within the health board.

Every assistance will be given to a person who has been subjected to, experienced or witnessed a hate incident, as they may be distressed, even if they may appear to be trying to play down the incident and do not want to make a fuss. Employees who feel that they are subject to bullying/harassment or inappropriate behaviour are strongly urged not to accept the situation and to do something about it. In this respect any one or more of those listed in Section 12 of this policy may be contacted for advice and support.

Staff experiencing or witnessing hate incidents/crimes should also be sign-posted to Victim Support who are being funded by Welsh Government to provide a 3rd party reporting service for the victims of all forms of hate crime under the Framework for Action (Tackling Hate Crime and Incidents) 2014. Victim Support can be contacted at: http://www.reporthate.victimsupport.org.uk/
The sort of support that can be provided will vary according to the circumstances of each individual case, however typically it might include emotional support, advocacy, practical support or restorative justice.

Roles and Responsibilities

The Chief Executive

Has the overall and final responsibility for risk management, including health and safety within HDUHB. is also responsible for:

- Ensuring that this policy is implemented.
- Ensuring that the policy is reviewed bi-annually or when deemed appropriate by the board.
- Appointing an Executive Director to lead on the management of violence and aggression.
- Authorising the exclusion of an individual who represents an unacceptable risk of violence to staff or users of our facilities or services.
- The Chief Executive will be supported in the decision-making process in applying these responsibilities by a Senior Management Team.
- Ensuring that suitable and sufficient security arrangements are in place to protect both staff and patients as far as reasonably practical from violence and aggression incidents.

The Director of Nursing, Quality & Patient Experience (Executive Lead) will:

- Advise the Health Board on matters of violence and aggression.
- Ensure effective monitoring arrangements are in place.
- Champion violence and aggression at Health Board level.

The Director of Workforce and Organisational Development is responsible for:

- Ensuring that the Health Board and Partnership Forum are informed as required on violence and aggression matters affecting employees.
- Ensuring that regular progress reports are presented to the Board and Partnership Forum
- Supporting mandatory training and the continuous development of staff.
- Ensuring that clear violence and aggression responsibilities are included in job descriptions, training programmes and induction procedures.
- Ensuring that violence and aggression information or procedures are communicated effectively throughout HDUHB.
- Ensuring that appropriate risk assessments and control measures are co-ordinated throughout the Health Board area.
- Ensuring that case management and personal safety advice is available.
- Ensuring that there is effective support for staff through the Occupational Health Service.
- Ensuring that manager's annual performance appraisal includes their effectiveness in managing incidents of violence and aggression

Heads / Managers of Corporate Services including departmental and line managers

Have responsibility for ensuring effective arrangements are in place for the co-ordination of risk, health and safety arrangements, including organisational arrangements, policies and procedures and compliance with legislation and guidelines regards violence and aggression.

Senior Managers are responsible for ensuring adequate risk assessments, local guidelines, procedures and control measures are introduced. Also ensuring safe systems of work are adopted coupled with availability of training, health and safety records, ensuring staff compliance, incident reporting, communications, support, liaison and audits within their services.

Service / Line Managers and/or Heads of Department

Have overall responsibility for making sure that arrangements are in place:

- To access specialist advice by liaising with the Violence and Aggression Case Manager or the Head of Health, Safety & Security.
- To ensure that individuals are aware of their responsibilities for health and safety and violence and aggression.
- For the development and implementation of this policy within their Service/Department
- For identifying hazards and carrying out appropriate risk assessments in line with current legislation including the risk assessment and risk register procedure.
- For preparing and implementing the organisational structure, putting in place individuals with responsibility for the management of violence and aggression within their Service/Department and that these persons are competent to perform these functions.
- To consult and involve staff and safety representatives to identify issues and develop appropriate working practices and control measures.
- For staff to have relevant information about the risks they face and preventative measures
- To prepare and implement safe systems of work
- To ensure systems are in place to monitor performance in relation to violence and aggression
- To complete Training Needs Analysis (TNA) regarding violence and aggression to ascertain
 the appropriate level of training required by their staff team and to liaise with the training
 department for support where required.
- For the right level of expertise and for individuals to be properly trained on recruitment and when they may be exposed to increased or new risks due to changes in responsibility, the environment or working practices. Training must be appropriate and repeated at suitable intervals.
- To ensure as far as reasonably practicable that sufficient information, training, instruction
 and supervision is in place to protect the health safety and welfare of staff within the Service
 / Department.
- To organise the distribution of HDUHB instructions and guidance to staff with the Service / Locality / Department.

The Head of Health, Safety and Security

Is responsible for:

- Providing advice with regards to patient/staff safety issues along with support from the Health and Safety Manager and Violence and Aggression Case Manager.
- Ensuring that violence and aggression incidents that meet the criteria are reported to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) under the Reporting of Incidents, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013 (RIDDOR) in line with statutory requirements.

The Violence and Aggression Case Manager

Aims to provide a comprehensive service for HDUHB in relation to violence and aggression. Together with staff members and managers they will work towards the creation and sustainability of a safe and secure working environment for staff and members of the public. This will provide the basis on which the highest levels of clinical care can be provided. Case managers will:

- Through early contact, provide support/advice for any victims of violence and aggression.
- Develop and maintain effective working relationships with NHS stakeholders, the Police and CPS as described within the Obligatory Response to Violence in Health Care as supported by the NHS Wales Anti-Violence Collaborative.
- Progress cases for prosecution and act as a point of contact for the victim, Department,
 Police, CPS, Victim Support and Legal Services.
- Challenge enforcement agencies and make representations in order to gain appropriate disposals and courses of action with outside agencies, with the consent of the victim and with the authority of the Head of Operations.
- Consider additional measures against perpetrators of unacceptable behaviour such as internal sanctions, patient undertakings, patient exclusions and anti-social referrals.
- To recommend safety measures through crime audits.
- To report crime and security breaches.
- To advise individual staff members, directorate Managers and Heads of Department.
- To advise on the protection of staff, patients, visitors and property.
- To assist with the prosecution of individuals.
- To promote crime prevention schemes e.g., Hospital Watch.
- To highlight to individuals that their behaviour has been unacceptable through letters or personal visits where appropriate in conjunction with local managers.
- To assist with the implementation of the Obligatory Response to Violence in Health Care as supported by the NHS Wales Anti-Violence Collaborative to promote positive outcomes for reported incidents of violence and aggression through improved inter agency working
- To act as a point of contact between injured persons, Police and CPS.

The Prevention and Management of Violence and Aggression (PAMOVA) Department

Will lead on the implementation of the All-Wales Violence Passport Information Scheme ensuring that adequate and appropriate training is provided in consultation with managers and the learning and development department. This will include all prevention and management of violence and aggression training.

The PAMOVA trainers provide training to staff working with people in Learning Disabilities Services across the HDUHB region. Trainers work under the Restraint Reduction Network (RRN) Training standards 2019.

The PAMOVA Department will work collaboratively with the V&A Case manager on the provision of advice and monitor implementation of policies, risk assessments and safe working practices in regard to all matters associated with the management of violence and aggression. This will include the annual and quarterly audits of Restrictive Physical Interventions, including the use of seclusion.

The department will also ensure that all training provided focusses on prevention and advocates supporting individuals who display behaviours that challenge in a positive and proactive manner.

The Occupational Health Department / Staff Psychological Well Being Service

Policy ref:285 Page 16 of 30 Version No V4.1 Violence and Aggression Policy

- Ensure that, where referral to Occupational Health is necessary, access is expedited. The recommendations of the Occupational Health team must be delivered swiftly and monitored.
- Ensure that victims are offered access to appropriate psychological intervention quickly and effectively.
- Ensure that confidential and independent counselling services are available.

Individual Employees

Have a moral and statutory duty of care, both for their own personal safety and that of others who may be affected by their acts or omissions. All employees:

- Are required to co-operate with their manager/supervisor to enable HDUHB to meet its legal duties and obligations.
- Are expected, in the course of their employment, to report to their Manager/Supervisor any hazardous situations or defective equipment.
- Where issued with personal protective equipment or personal safety equipment employees will ensure that they have adequate training and use the equipment correctly.
- Where locally accepted safety practices exist such as buddy calls, check calls etc it is the duty of the individual to adhere to those practices to assist in the personal safety.
- Must report incidents via the incident reporting system (Datix) as soon as practicable where increased risks are evident to any other persons.
- Should understand the definitions in Section 6, including those of a hate incident / crime.
- Should understand that an incident is deemed to be offensive if the victim perceives it to be so.
- Should know that if an allegation of harassment or discrimination is raised, the process for investigation contained in the All-Wales Dignity at Work Policy will be followed.

Violence and Aggression Training

A condition of employment for all employees is that they are required to complete the corporate induction training programme on commencement of employment which includes violence and aggression training. This policy and enactment arrangements should be brought to the attention of all new staff at local induction.

Additional training is dependent on the level of risk that has been identified by risk assessment. Training needs analysis is the responsibility of all Service / Line Managers and/or Heads of Department. They should complete the HDUHB All Wales NHS Violence and Aggression Training Passport Refresher Training Checklist to assess violence and aggression risks of their department(s), which can be found on the HDUHB intranet. If additional training is required, this should be arranged via the PAMOVA Department. Appropriate training will be provided as follows (for content, please see the All-Wales NHS Violence and Aggression Training Passport):

- Module A Induction and awareness raising
- Module B Theory of personal Safety and de-escalation
- Module C Breakaway
- Module D Restrictive Physical intervention (RPI) techniques

In Mental Health and General Services (with identified risk), module D consists of the PAMOVA approach.

In Learning Disability Services, module D consists of Positive Behaviour Management (PBM).

17/30 20/36

Training plans should be developed in line with annual training plans/training needs analysis in collaboration with the Workforce and OD Development and monitored via normal performance management arrangements.

Records of training should be kept by both the relevant Directorate and the Learning & Development Department and be updated Electronic Staff Records (ESR)

Disciplinary Action

Disciplinary action under the terms of the Disciplinary Procedure will be taken against any employee, who shows wilful disregard for the safe working practices. Where the disregard for safe working practices seriously affects the health and safety of themselves or that of any other employees, the employee may be summarily dismissed. Also, the employer and their employees may be subject to prosecution under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and further legislation.

Implementation, Monitoring and Review

A copy of this policy and related materials are published on the HDUHB Intranet site. For those staff without access to the intranet, it will be the responsibility of the local manager to make available access to the policy in an appropriate manner. The policy will also be available to members of the public via the organisations website. A number of mechanisms will exist to measure the success of the policy. These will include:

Internal Monitoring

Internal monitoring of the management of violence and aggression within HDUHB is the responsibility of the departments who, through the Head of Health & Safety and/or Security / Case Manager will carry out an Annual Audit. The findings will be sent to the relevant Director and will be discussed at the relevant local safety group. The results will then be collated by the Health, Safety & Security Department as a Health Board wide audit and discussed at the Health, Safety & Emergency Planning Sub-Committee. Internal monitoring is achieved by:

- Ensuring the Welsh Government Violence and Aggression Action plan status is considered at each Implementation Group meeting.
- Ensuring that each local health and safety group considers trends and information relating to violence and aggression incidents within their area.
- Ensuring that all incidents are investigated, and actions are fed back to the reporting individual.
- Compiling records and statistics of staff violence and aggression training.
- Checking performance against policies, procedures and safe systems of work to ensure that safe working practices and conditions exist.
- Appropriate involvement of safety representatives in line with National Codes of Practice.
- Undertaking an annual review of violence and aggression.
- Ensuring audits are produced annually and quarterly by the PAMOVA Department regarding incidents of Restrictive Physical Interventions.
- Ensuring audits are produced by the Security / Case Manager regarding all incidents of violence and aggression.

External Monitoring

External monitoring of violence and aggression within NHS premises is vested in the Health and Safety Executive. The Welsh Government National Violence and Aggression Steering Group require regular data from HDUHB relating to violence and aggression and will monitor performance as appropriate.

Review

The Health, Safety and Security Team will monitor and review this policy on a three-yearly basis (or sooner in light of changes in legislation or practice) in collaboration with the Executive Lead. This will provide a measurement of performance and ensure adequate processes and structures are in place, as well as continuing compliance with statutory responsibilities.

References

The following reference sources have been used in the compilation of this Violence and Aggression Policy:

- Welsh assembly Government Action plan of Violence and Aggression
- All Wales NHS Violence and Aggression Training Passport and information Scheme
- Obligatory Response to Violence in Health Care as supported by the NHS Wales Anti-Violence Collaborative.
- Welsh Government Tackling Hate Crimes and Incidents: A Framework for Action
- Management of Violence & Aggression Policy,
- Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board, 2012
- Welsh Government Consultation document 2019 Reducing Restrictive Practices

Relevant law

- Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974
- Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999
- Safety Representatives & Safety Committees Regulations 1977
- Mental Capacity Act 2005
- Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013
- Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992

Further information is available on the HSE website: http://www.hse.gov.uk/violence/index.htm

Appendix 1 – I.C.E. Procedure for Dealing with Unacceptable Behaviour in HDUHB



I.C.E. Stage 1 (Identification of behaviour / informing person concerned)

This first stage is to highlight directly to the individual that their behaviour has fallen short of what is acceptable by Hywel Dda University Health Board. A letter is sent to the individual, signed by the Director of Operations, informing them that should they, on any occasion in the future fail to comply with the expected standards of behaviour, Stage 2 of the Health Board Policy will be enacted with Personal Undertakings being put in place with relevant conditions (as outlined in the accompanying Guide to Unacceptable Behaviours 'Putting Abuse on ICE').

- In the event of inappropriate behaviour by a patient/carer/visitor or relative and following careful review by the patient's clinical team (or the on-call team out of hours), witness accounts a stage 1 letter may be considered.
- 2. If the senior nurse on duty for the clinical area feels that the issuing of a stage 1 letter is appropriate, he/she should contact a suitable member of staff. Examples of appropriate members of staff to initiate procedure are the Site manager, General Manager, Lead nurse, Clinical Director, Locality Manager, Senior Nurse, Department Manager and Nurse Practitioner. This list is not exhaustive.
- 3. It is the responsibility of that suitable person to do the following:
- a. Ensure full details of the incident(s) and the staff member's concerns have been raised, document them and decide whether a stage 1 letter is appropriate. Wherever possible, get witnesses to the event to sign the record as true and accurate. These can include other patients, carers as well as staff. These should be recorded on the Datix incident report as soon as practicable.
- b. Complete the Datix fully e.g., the exact nature of injuries caused (if any) exact words/language used, provide contact details of staff member/s affected, welfare considerations.
- c. Inform the Violence and Aggression Case Manager.
- d. Obtain confirmation as to the individual's capacity.
- e. Inform and seek advice from the individual's consultant or senior member of the medical team (on call team out of hours), or their GP if necessary.
- f. Inform the individual of staff concerns and explain the procedure for sending a stage 1 letter. Ensure that there is no confusion as to the standard of behaviour required or the possible consequences of failure to comply.

Policy ref:285 Page 20 of 30 Version No V4.1

- g. The Violence and Aggression Case Manager will liaise with the service regarding what action have they undertaken to seek co-operation, review witness or Datix narrative accounts, complete the necessary details on the template Stage 1 letter in Appendix 2 and send to the Director of Operations for signature.
- h. Send the signed letter to the individual with a copy of the HDUHB Guide to Unacceptable Behaviours 'Putting Abuse on ICE' (Also in <u>Appendix 2</u>).
- i. The Violence and Aggression Case Manager will upload a copy of the signed letter to the Documents section on the Datix form.

I.C.E. Stage 2 (Contract and Conditions – Patient / Personal Undertaking)

Stage 2 relates to the Contract Stage of the Patient / Personal Undertaking process. Whereby a letter / contract is issued to an individual to inform them that they have continued to fail to comply with acceptable conduct or that an increased level of security is required whilst they are on Health Board or other premises where Health Board staff operate from. The contract is sent with information regarding their rights and responsibilities.

The individual is informed that should they, on any occasion in the future fail to comply with the expected standards of behaviour then consideration will be made to withdrawing the current care arrangements. In Stage 2 a notice is also sent to the registered GP of the individual.

If a Patient / Personal Undertaking is to be considered the following action must be undertaken:

- 1. There will be evidence of continued unacceptable behaviour (datix Incident reports). The Service Manager will consult with the Violence and Aggression Case Manager prior to review the reported behaviour. If evidence suggests the individual has failed to comply with Stage 1 of the process, then Stage 2 may be initiated.
- 2. The Violence and Aggression Case Manager will complete the necessary details on the template Stage 2 Contract & Conditions Patient / Personal Undertaking letter in Appendix 3.
- 3. The Violence and Aggression Case Manager will complete the necessary details on the template Stage 2 Contract & Conditions Letter to GP in Appendix 4.
- 4. Send both letters to the Director of operations for signature.
- 5. The signed Patient / Personal Undertaking letter should be sent to the individual with the information regarding their rights and responsibilities (also in Appendix 3.).
- 6. The signed Letter to GP should be sent to the individual's GP along with a copy of the HDUHB Violence and Aggression Policy.
- 7. The Violence and Aggression Case Manager will upload the letters to the Documents section on Datix.
- 8. The full process must be recorded in the patient's medical and nursing documentation.

Policy ref:285 Page 21 of 30 Version No V4.1 Violence and Aggression Policy

21/30 24/36

9. Explain to the individual that the Undertaking will be held centrally and in the patient's records and will be flagged on the Patient Information System where available.

I.C.E. Stage 3 (Enforcement and Exclusion)

Stage 3 is the final stage of the Patient / Personal Undertaking. This stage formally confirms to the individual that following their continued unacceptable behaviour they are now excluded in any circumstances, other than a medical emergency, from treatment at any Hywel Dda University Health Board premises. It informs them that should they return to Health Board premises they will be asked to leave; the police may be called, and subsequently legal redress will be initiated to prevent further return.

Any change in the provision of care as a result of reaching stage 3 will be reviewed within 3 months by an appointed Review Panel. Notification for the panel to reconvene will be provided by the relevant management team. The patient will be notified of any decision made by the panel.

If Stage 3 is required:

- 1. Consult with the Violence and Aggression Case Manager. If it is agreed that the individual has failed to comply with Stage 2 of the process, then Stage 3 may be initiated.
- 2. The decision to exclude can only be taken by both the relevant Directorate / Service Manager and relevant Clinical Director (in their absence their nominated deputies). They must be satisfied as to the capacity of the individual and that alternative care arrangements have been made. This does not preclude the relevant clinician discharging a patient who no longer requires in patient care in the normal manner.
- 3. The Directorate Manager will complete the necessary details on the template Stage 3 Enforcement and Exclusion letter in <u>Appendix 5</u>.
- 4. Directorate Manager will send the letter to the Director of Operations for signature and a copy sent to the Violence and Aggression Case Manager.
- 5. The signed Enforcement and Exclusion letter should be sent to the individual.
- 6. The Violence and Aggression Case Manager will upload the letter to the Documents section on Datix.
- 7. The responsible consultant must be informed and write to the individual's GP detailing the exclusion and the reasons for it.
- 8. The full process must be recorded in the individual's medical and nursing documentation, together with a detailed record of the rationale for exclusion and of the alternative arrangements for care. The individual should be told where this material will be held.
- 9. Explain to the individual that the exclusion will be held centrally and in the individual's records and will be flagged on the Patient Information System where available.

22/30 25/36

- 10. The individual must be informed that they may challenge their exclusion via the established complaints procedure.
- 11. If an excluded individual returns in any circumstances other than a medical emergency, security staff and/or the police should be called immediately. The Health Board will subsequently seek legal redress to prevent the individual from returning to the premises other than in a medical emergency.
- 12. The excluding Health Board may share, with other organisations, details of individuals that have been excluded from their services if they feel that there may be a risk to the safety or wellbeing of other employees / patients within the health and social care sector.

23/30 26/36

Appendix 2 – I.C.E. Stage 1 – Identification of behaviour / informing person concerned



Person's/Patient's NameAddress
Reference
Date:
Dear
This is to formally confirm to you that a report has been made regards your conduct onat
As a result of this report you are now subject to Stage 1 of the violence and aggression policy and the enclosed document is supplied for your information. This document explains the types of behaviours that are unacceptable within the Health Board services.
This first stage is to highlight to you that your behaviour has fallen short of what is acceptable and Hywel Dda University Health Board is committed to providing a safe and secure environment for all its staff and service users.
Should you, on any occasion in the future fail to comply with the expected standards of behaviour explained to you by
More serious breaches could result in the consideration of the immediate exclusion from Health Board premises by staff/police. Further criminal or civil sanctions may also be instigated.
We would urge you to consider your conduct towards our staff and on our premises at all times.
Yours sincerely
(Name) Director of Operations

Policy ref:285 Page 24 of 30 Version No V4.1



Putting Abuse on I.C.E. Information on Unacceptable Behaviours within HDUHB

Hywel Dda University Health Board is committed to providing the best quality healthcare in a safe and secure environment for all staff & users.

Inappropriate and abusive behaviour not only affects those targeted with physical or mental distress but it can also affect those in need of care and support. Abuse can take many forms and can seriously affect moral and the ability to provide the highest levels of healthcare.

The majority of abuse and threats include some form of criminal behaviour and as such will be carefully considered for further action.

Staff need everyone's cooperation to provide a safe and secure environment for the best delivery of care.

Putting abuse on ICE is a simple three stage process as follows:

I - Stage 1 (Identification of behaviour /Inform person concerned)

This is to inform you that your conduct has been deemed unacceptable. A schedule of unacceptable behaviours is below for your information. Any further such conduct will initiate stages 2 and 3 of this process.

C - Stage 2 (Contract and Conditions)

A letter/contract will be issued to you as you have failed to comply with acceptable conduct, or an increased level of security is required whilst you are on our premises or using our services. Your GP will also be informed.

E - Stage 3 (Enforcement and Exclusion)

Serious breaches or conduct will always be considered for prosecution and may also be followed with exclusion orders. In some instances, exclusion orders may just be invoked. Remember most forms of abuse involve criminal offences.

Confirmation of your exclusion or any enforcement will be sent to your GP.

Hywel Dda University Health Board takes any instances of unacceptable behaviour seriously. Unacceptable behaviour can result in injury or distress being caused and can be dealt with through internal Health Board actions or potential criminal proceedings. This list has been produced so that you understand and are aware these types of behaviour will not be tolerated towards our staff or at our premises.

Policy ref:285 Page 25 of 30 Version No V4.1 Violence and Aggression Policy

25/30 28/36

The following are forms of unacceptable conduct:

- Any physical or verbal threat of violence
- Any criminal behaviour e.g. theft/drugs/damage
- Offensive language
- Any abuse/incident which is perceived by the victim or any other person to be motivated by a
 hostility or prejudice based on a person's actual or perceived age, disability, race, religion or
 belief, sexual orientation and transgender. (Hate crime/incident)
- Inappropriate or intimate questioning of staff
- Harassment / Intimidation of staff
- Interfering with proper medication or treatment
- Shouting, abusive or disruptive behaviour
- Failing to leave healthcare premises upon request
- Malicious allegations against staff or others
- Excessive visitor numbers that impact care
- The supply of drugs/alcohol to patients
- Visiting departments other than for treatment whilst drunk or under the influence of substances
- Any behaviour that challenges the safety wellbeing or security of staff/users of Health Board facilities
- Smoking on Health Board premises
- Failing to comply with safety measures or government directives
- Other (please state)

Should you have any concerns or complaints that you wish to raise, you should send them in writing to the following address:

The Director of Operations
Hywel Dda University Health Board,
Ystwyth, Carmarthen, SA313BB

Appendix 3 – I.C.E. Stage 2 – Contract and Conditions – Patient / Personal Undertaking



Person's/Patient's Name
Reference
Date: Dear
This is to formally confirm to you that a report has been made regards your conduct on
As a result of this report you are now subject to Stage 2 of the Violence and Aggression policy and the enclosed document is supplied for your information. This document explains the types of behaviours that are unacceptable within the Health Board services.
This stage is to inform your behaviour has fallen short of what is acceptable and Hywel Dda University Health Board is committed to providing a safe and secure environment for all its staff and service users. A personal undertaking has now been applied to you, and enclosed is a copy of your rights and responsibilities.
Should you, on any occasion in the future fail to comply with the expected standards of behaviour explained to you by
More serious breaches could result in the consideration of the immediate exclusion from Health Board premises by staff/police. Further criminal or civil sanctions may also be instigated. Such an exclusion from Health Board premises would mean you would not receive NHS care, as your responsible clinician would seek to make alternative arrangements for you to receive treatment elsewhere. A notice has been sent to your registered GP.
We would urge you to consider your conduct towards our staff and on our premises at all times.
Yours sincerely
(Name) Director of Operations

Policy ref:285 Page 27 of 30 Version No V4.1



RESPONSIBILITIES AND RIGHTS – PATIENT / PERSONAL UNDERTAKING

YOUR RIGHTS

Hywel Dda University Health Board and its employees are obligated to me, as a person with regards a duty of care and aim to provide services to meet my needs for healthcare and treatment at all times.

The Health Board and its employees aim to provide health services that are sympathetic and responsive to my individual needs within the resources that the Health Board has available.

The Health Board and its employees want to deliver appropriate and effective health care and treatment to me.

The Health Board will only restrict or withdraw my rights to care in exceptional circumstances when I have failed to comply with any of my responsibilities in a manner which is deemed unacceptable

YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES

I will not behave in any way, which can be considered violent, abusive or intimidating.

Violence includes any incident where any members of staff are abused, threatened or assaulted in circumstances related to their work. An act of violence may involve an explicit challenge to the safety, wellbeing or health of any member of staff, patients or visitors.

Violent behaviour may include verbal abuse, harassment and threats of harm by any means.

Other unacceptable behaviours are:
Abuse and supply of both alcohol and drugs.
Damage to Health Board property.
Physical Acts of violence.
Undermining the safety of health care settings.

I will treat all NHS Staff, Patients, Carers and Visitors, politely and with respect at all times.

I will not consume alcohol or take any form of nonprescribed substances or drugs whilst in any healthcare setting within Hywel Dda Health Board.

I accept and understand that the Health Board is obliged to provide a safe and secure environment for all its staff and service users and to care for their health and safety. I understand that no member of staff has to jeopardise their safety in providing me with care.

Appendix 4 – I.C.E. Stage 2 – Contract and Conditions – Letter to GP



GP's Name and Address
Date
Dear
RE: Person's/Patient's Name
Date of Birth Reference
The above named individual Is currently an in/outpatient at Has attended Is receiving treatment from the Health Board Community Nursing Service Other
NB: The individual has been assessed as competent in decision making.
In order to protect the clinical environment for other service users and staff members it has been necessary to instigate the use of a Personal Undertaking for the above named person.
This being a process where the individual having displayed unacceptable standards of behaviour. Their rights and responsibilities have been brought to their attention and the person has been asked to confirm that they understand that failing to comply with their responsibilities, could result in changes to the delivery of health care. It may result in the withdrawal of care except for emergency treatment.
If you require further information please contact HDUHB Violence and Aggression Case Manager, Prince Philip Hospital, Llanelli, SA14 8QF.
Yours sincerely
(Name) Director of Operations

Policy ref:285 Page 29 of 30 Version No V4.1 Violence and Aggression Policy

Appendix 5 – I.C.E. Stage 3 – Enforcement and Exclusion



LETTER TO PATIENT / PERSON - WITHDRAWAL OF TREATMENT/EXCLUSION FROM HYWEL DDA UNIVERSITY HEALTH BOARD PREMISES

PATIENT'S/PERSON'S NAME
HOSPITAL REFERENCE NUMBER Date:
Dear
Further to the letter sent to you on (date), and the Formal Patient Undertaking issued, I am now writing to formally confirm that following your continued unacceptable behaviour on (insert date) at (insert venue) you are now excluded in any circumstances, other than a medical emergency, from treatment at any Hywel Dda University Health Board premises
The letter referred to above and the Formal Undertaking informed you that any future failure to comply with the expected standards of behaviour within the Health Board may result in exclusion from treatment at any of our premises.
A detailed record of the circumstances leading to the decision is held within
(specify)and you have the right to challenge the decision via the established complaints procedure by writing to the above address.
abovo address.
Should you return to Health Board premises you will be asked to leave, the police may be called and subsequently legal redress will be initiated to prevent further return.
The exclusion will be reviewed on (insert date - maximum one year). Your General Practitioner has also been informed of this decision in order that alternative arrangements can be made.
Yours sincerely
(Name) Director of Operations

30/30 33/36

Policy ref:285

Version No V4.1

SUMMARY EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT – 285 – Violence and Aggression Policy

Organisation:	Hywel Dda University Health Board

Proposal Sponsored by:	Name:	Tim Harrison
	Title:	Head of Health, Safety and Security
	Department:	Health, Safety & Security Department

Policy Title:	285 – Violence and Aggression Policy.

Brief Aims and Objectives of Policy:

This Policy contains information on dealing with violence, aggression, abuse and unacceptable behaviour towards all NHS staff employed by Hywel Dda University Health Board (HDUHB).

The scope of this policy applies to all departments and staff within HDUHB. This will include employees working for other employers but on Health Board premises or undertaking duties on behalf of the organisation. The procedures contained within this policy can be applied to all members of the public, contractors and visitors at any location where healthcare is administered. Suitable consideration will be given to patients who are not competent to take responsibility for their actions for clinical reasons.

This document also gives guidance to staff on dealing with situations where they either witness, or are the subject of an incident or crime or hate incident/crime, or where hate could be an aggravating factor, where the perpetrator is either a:

- Service user, their relative or carer,
- Visitor,
- Member of the public,
- Fellow member of staff

Was the decision	Yes	No ✓

1/3

reached to proceed to full Equality Impact Assessment?	An initial screening equality impact assessment has been carried out and has identified that the policy does not have an adverse or detrimental impact on any of the proscribed equality groups as the policy is designed to protect all staff who carry out work for or on behalf of HDUHB. Example of a similar organisations approach can be found in the link below: https://www.scas.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Management-of-violence-and-aggression-policy.pdf		
If no, are there any issues to be addressed?	Yes	No ✓	
Is the Policy Lawful?	Yes	This Procedure complies with relevant health and safety legislation.	
Will the Policy be adopted?	Yes If no, please record the reaso	n and any further action required:	
Are monitoring arrangements in place?		parding the implementation of the Policy around issues of equality sed appropriately on an individual basis and appropriate action	

2/3 35/36

Who is the Lead Officer?	Name:	Tim Harrison	
	Title:	Head of Health, Safety and Security	
	Department:	Health, Safety & Security Department	
Review Date of Policy:	The policy will be reviewed on a three-yearly basis.		

Signature of all parties:	Name	Title	Signature
	Tim Harrison	Head of Health, Safety and Security	05/05/2023
	Alan Winter	Senior Diversity & Inclusion Officer	

Please Note: An Action Plan should be attached to this Outcome Report prior to signature

36/36